FILE

AUG 1 1 2017

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By\_\_\_\_\_

94790-2

Court of Appeals File No. 34201-8-III

2 - 3

ŝ

### COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

### Frank DeCaro, as personal represesentative for the ESTATE OF JESSICA ALVARADO,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

vs.

### SPOKANE COUNTY, DOE,

Respondents/Defendants.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Matthew C. Albrecht, WSBA 36801 David K. DeWolf, WSBA 10875 ALBRECHT LAW PLLC 421 W. Riverside Ave., STE 614 (509) 495-1246

Attorneys for Petitioner Frank DeCaro

###

III.	STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT	
IV.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 4	
The Court of Appeals held that a prima facie defense is sufficient to justify vacating a default judgment even without a showing of excusable neglect. In the absence of a "meritless" claim, does the White v. Holm test allow vacating default judgments when the neglect leading to the default judgment is not excusable?		
V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE 4	
VI.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 12	
Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the Court of Appeals' description of the standard for setting aside a default judgment conflicts with White v. Holm and its progeny		
Α.	"[W]hat the White Standard is about."12	
B. of W	A mistake that is not excusable does not satisfy the second prong White	
VII.	CONCLUSION	
CERT	IFICATE OF SERVICE	
APPENDIX		
Cou	rt of Appeals OpinionA-1	
Court of Appeals Decision on Motion for Reconsideration A-11		
CR 60		
Affi	davit of Stephen R. Bartel A-13	

i

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

.

### Cases

ĩ

ŝ

Berger v. Dishman Dodge, Inc., 50 Wn. App. 309, 748 P.2d 241 (Div. 3 1987)
<i>Estate of Alvarado v. Spokane County</i> , 198 Wn. App. 638, 394 P.3d 1042 (Div. 3 2017)
Fowler v. Johnson, 167 Wn.App. 596, 273 P.3d 1042 16
Ha v. Signal Elec., Inc., 182 Wn.App. 436, 332 P3d 991 (Div. 1 2014)
Johnson v. Cash Store, 116 Wn. App. 833, 68 P.3d 1099 (Div. 3 2003)
Little v. King, 160 Wn.2d 696, 161 P.3d 345 (2007)2, 13
<i>Pfaff v. State Farm Mutual Auto Ins. Co.</i> , 103 Wn. App. 629, 14 P.3d 837 (Div. 2 2000)
Prest v. Am. Bankers Life Assurance Co., 79 Wn. App. 93, 900 P.2d 595 (Div. 2 1995) 16
Shepard Ambulance, Inc. v. Helsell, Fetterman, Martin, Todd & Hokanson, 95 Wn. App. 231, 974 P.2d 1275 (Div. 1 1999)
Suburban Janitorial Services v. Clarke American, 72 Wn.App. 302, 863 P.2d 1377 (Div. 1 1993)
<i>TMT Bear Creek Shopping Center, Inc. v. Petco Animal Supplies,</i> <i>Inc.</i> , 140 Wn. App. 191, 165 P.3d 1271 (2007)
Trinity Universal Ins. Co. of Kansas v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co., 176 Wn. App. 185, 312 P.3d 967 (2013)
White v. Holm, 73 Wn.2d 348, 438 P.2d 581 (1968) passim
Rules
CR 60 passim
RAP 12.1
RAP 13.4(b)(1) 12

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Frank DeCaro, as personal representative of the Estate of Jessica Alvarado, asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision affirming the ruling of the trial court that the default judgment entered against the County should be set aside.

### **II. INTRODUCTION**

In White v. Holm, 73 Wn.2d 348, 438 P.2d 581 (1968), this Court established the governing principles for review of a motion to set aside a default judgment. In particular, as they pertain to this case, the Court held that, if the defendant has "a strong or virtually conclusive" defense to the plaintiff's claim, then the default judgment should be set aside, even if the defendant's failure to answer the complaint was not excusable. White, 73 Wn.2d at 353-54, 438 P.2d at 585. If, on the other hand, the defendant presents only a "prima facie" defense to the plaintiff's claim, then the default judgment should not be set aside unless the defendant can also establish that the failure to answer the complaint was the result of excusable neglect. *Id*. The rationale underlying this approach is that respect for court rules, and ultimately the court's legitimacy, require a party who fails to comply with the rules to justify its noncompliance before being relieved from the consequences of noncompliance.<sup>1</sup> If the defendant cannot show that the plaintiff's complaint is meritless, then the reasons for the defendant's failure to appear deserve "grave, if not dispositive, consideration." *White*, 73 Wn.2d at 354, 438 P.2d at 585.

ŝ

In this case, the County was served with the summons and complaint on September 18, 2015. In response, the County did—nothing.<sup>2</sup> Not until

<sup>2</sup> The complete absence of action or excuse is confirmed, rather than disputed, by the Bartel Affidavit, reproduced in its entirety as pages A-13 to A-15 in the Appendix to this Petition. (CP 268-69). The key paragraphs of the Bartel Affidavit, which appear to be the entirety of any explanation ever offered by the County for its neglect, follow:

¶8. On September 18, 2015, the current Lawsuit was served on the Spokane County Auditor's Office. It was then forwarded to my office. Unfortunately, a copy of the lawsuit was not forwarded on to legal counsel. This was an inadvertent, and most unfortunate mistake, which has not occurred since I have been the Risk Manager;

¶9. This was not a case of wilful or deliberate failure. Clearly, as the Risk Manager, one of my roles is to ensure that Spokane County defends itself against torts and lawsuits. I am responsible for resolving those claims that I can resolve and assigning those that cannot be resolved in the tort phase and lawsuits are filed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Little v. King, 160 Wn.2d 696, 703, 161 P.3d 345, 349 (2007) (citations omitted):

As a general matter, default judgments are not favored because "'[i]t is the policy of the law that controversies be determined on the merits rather than by default.'" But we also value an organized, responsive, and responsible judicial system where litigants acknowledge the jurisdiction of the court to decide their cases and comply with court rules.

December 3, 2015, more than 75 days after the initial service, did the County respond in any way. In its motion to set aside the default, the County offered no explanation for the failure. (See Bartel Affidavit). Nor did it offer a "strong or virtually conclusive" defense, even by the County's own description. (CP 211, Spokane County's Memo in Supp. Of Mtn. to Set Aside Default). Nonetheless, the trial court granted the motion to set aside the default, and the Court of Appeals affirmed, contrary to the principles set forth in White. What is more, in divining "[a]t its heart ... what the White standard is about," the appellate court represented the White standard as permitting a default judgment to be set aside so long as a party does not "intentionally ignore its obligation to respond."<sup>3</sup> This ruling essentially replaces the requirement to show excusable neglect (unless the plaintiff's case is meritless) with a mere showing that the failure to timely respond to a lawsuit was not intentional. If the procedure under CR 60 for setting aside default judgments is to be altered in such a dramatic way, the authority to do so can be found only in this Court.

#### III. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

A copy of the published Court of Appeals decision, Estate of Alvarado v. Spokane County, 198 Wn. App. 638, 394 P.3d 1042 (Div. 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> 198 Wn. App. at 645, 394 P.3d at 1046.

2017) is reproduced in the Appendix to this Petition at pages A-1 to A-10. Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision, and reversal of the same.

#### IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals held that a prima facie defense is sufficient to justify vacating a default judgment even without a showing of excusable neglect. In the absence of a "meritless" claim, does the *White v. Holm* test allow vacating default judgments when the neglect leading to the default judgment is not excusable?

### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 18, 2015, Denise Toutloff in the County Auditor's Office accepted service of a summons and complaint on behalf of the Estate of Jessica Alvarado, alleging that while in the County's custody as a jail inmate, Jessica was subjected to negligent care, resulting in her death. Because the Estate's counsel was unsure whether the service on Toutloff satisfied the statute, the Estate served another copy of the summons and complaint (constituting the third notice<sup>4</sup> to the county of the Estate's claims) on Todd Taylor in the Auditor's office, who verified his authority to accept service on behalf of the County and signed a formal written acceptance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Because suits against political subdivisions of the state must be preceded by a notice of claim, the County was first made aware of the claim when a Notice of Claim was filed with Stephen Bartel on July 17, 2015. CP 268.

The summons and complaint were forwarded to Stephen Bartel, the County Risk Manager, who was responsible for obtaining defense counsel to appear on behalf of the County. Inexplicably, Bartel did nothing. After more than 40 days had passed following the service of the Summons and Complaint, the Estate filed a motion for default on November 6, 2015. The motion was granted and the County was held in default. CP 18-19.

The Estate then waited another month, anticipating that the County would eventually respond, but then asked the trial court to enter a default judgment on December 1, 2015. CP 20. The next day, in open court, Judge Annette Plese entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. She found that when Jessica Alvarado was being held in the Spokane County Jail she informed a jail officer that she was sick because of her withdrawal from medication. CP 182. Jail personnel knew that Alvarado had been continually vomiting and suffering from diarrhea, unable to retain food or water. Id. Alvarado told jail personnel that something was seriously wrong and that she needed to be hospitalized. Id. Alvarado's distress was so intense that her cell mate asked jail personnel to transfer her to a different cell, and to provide medical care to Alvarado. Id. The cell mate was removed, but no additional medical care was provided to Alvarado. Id. Alone in her cell, Alvarado aspirated vomit, suffocated, and died in the early morning hours of August 13, 2012.

5

Judge Plese further found because of the lack of medical care, Alvarado suffered needless pain, fear, and death. Moreover, her only surviving child, Angelo DeCaro (age 9 at the time of his mother's death), was deprived of the consortium of his mother. Based on the affidavits supporting the damages suffered by the Estate, she entered a judgment against the County for \$8 million.

On December 21, 2015 the County filed a Motion and Supporting Memorandum to Set Aside the Default and the Default Judgment. CP 203; 205. The County's brief stated, "Spokane County has a Prima Facie Defense." CP 211:24; it further claimed, "Spokane County Has a Prima Defense as to Liability." CP 212:5. The County further claimed that its failure to enter a notice of appearance "Constitutes Inadvertent Mistake and Excusable Neglect." However, despite the initial claim that its failure to appear was the result of excusable neglect, the County failed to provide any evidence that would support a finding of excusable neglect, and thereafter abandoned the defense of excusable neglect. RP 11.

The County's primary argument in support of its motion to set aside the default was that it had a prima facie defense (CP 223-297) and that it deserved an opportunity to have the case decided on the merits rather than by default. Consequently, the County submitted numerous declarations setting forth the County's defense. CP 218:13. Apparently recognizing that it could not establish a case of excusable neglect, the County characterized its failure to appear as a "mistake" (CP 205:20; 218:13).

In its opposition to the Motion to Set Aside Default, the Estate agreed that the County had presented a prima facie defense—but no more than that. As a result, The Estate argued that the County's failure to answer or appear would have to be found to be "excusable." Although CR 60 lists mistake as a basis for setting aside a judgment, the Estate pointed out that the County had not pointed to any evidence of mistake; instead, by the County's own admission, it had simply failed to respond—which was a form of neglect, and thus the dispositive question under the relevant case law was whether the County's neglect was excusable or inexcusable.<sup>5</sup> If the County was unable to establish that its failure to appear was the result of excusable neglect, then it would have to present a "strong or virtually conclusive defense" in order to justify vacating the default. The more stringent standard for defendants who are unable to prove "excusability" was established in *White v. Holm*, 73 Wn.2d 348, 438 P.2d 581 (1968).<sup>6</sup> but

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Plaintiff further argued that if a failure to appear or answer could simply be labeled a "mistake" rather than neglect, and thereby avoid the inquiry into whether the neglect was excusable or inexcusable, then the caselaw distinguishing excusable from inexcusable neglect would be meaningless.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> White begins with the quality of the defense, and then looks to the reason for the failure to appear or answer. If a strong or virtually conclusive defense is presented, then any reason for failing to appear, short of willful refusal,

it was further refined in *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Center, Inc. v. Petco Animal Supplies, Inc.,* 140 Wn. App. 191, 165 P.3d 1271 (Div. 1 2007). *TMT Bear Creek* dealt with a case of inexcusable neglect, and therefore focused on whether the defendant had met the higher standard of a "strong or virtually conclusive" defense. *TMT Bear Creek* recognized that *White* placed the burden on the defendant to prove that the Estate's claim was meritless.<sup>7</sup>

Because the County had essentially conceded that it could not show excusable neglect, the Estate focused on the standard for what the County would need to show in order to establish a strong or virtually conclusive defense. A key question in *TMT Bear Creek* was whether the trial court should weigh the evidence. In cases where the defendant's burden is only to establish a prima facie defense, the trial court should consider only the

will be enough. On the other hand, if a "reasonably debatable prima facie defense is promptly submitted, then the plausibility and **excusability** of the defaulted defendants' reason for failing to initially and timely appear in the action deserve grave, if not dispositive, consideration." 73 Wn.2d 353-54, 438 P.2d at 585 (emphasis added). In other words, the defendant must either offer an excusable reason for the failure to appear, plus a prima facie defense, or else a strong or virtually conclusive defense.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Just as a default judgment will not be set aside, even though the defendant's failure to appear was the result of excusable neglect, if the defendant cannot demonstrate a prima facie defense (why proceed with a trial on the merits if it would be useless?), the Plaintiff whose case is meritless should not be allowed a default judgment even if the defendant presents no good reason for failing to answer or appear. *TMT Bear Creek*, 140 Wn. App. at 204-05, 165 P.3d at 1279-80.

defendant's evidence, and view it in the light most favorable to the Defendant. By contrast, if the burden is shifted to the Defendant to prove a "strong or virtually conclusive" defense, the trial court must weigh both the Defendant's evidence as well as the Estate's evidence to determine whether the Plaintiff's claim is "meritless." *TMT Bear Creek*, 140 Wn. App. at 204-05, 165 P.3d at 1279-80. The Estate therefore responded to the County's motion by offering evidence that contradicted the County's claims and offered additional support for the findings of fact and conclusions of law upon which the default had been based. In its Reply Brief the County did not address the additional evidence offered by the Estate, but insisted that it was not required to, because the trial court should consider only the County's evidence in determining whether to set aside the default.

At the hearing on the motion to set aside the default the County admitted it was not a case of excusable neglect (RP 8:10-11), but argued that the County had presented a "strong defense," and that the equities of the case favored setting aside the default. At the conclusion of the hearing the trial court granted the County's motion. Judge Plese acknowledged that the County was not relying on excusable neglect,<sup>8</sup> but ruled that there was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> As is discussed more fully in the Argument section, the transcript of the hearing is unreliable. It reads "I would agree the County has already said this is an excusable neglect on the part of the County." RP 38 (emphasis added). In context it is plain, given the concession on the part of the County,

a clear preference for a trial on the merits.<sup>9</sup> The trial court stated that it was not required to weigh the evidence;<sup>10</sup> because the County had presented a prima facie defense, it felt compelled to set the default judgment aside.

The Estate timely appealed the trial court's ruling. The Estate repeated its argument that the trial court could only vacate the default judgment if it found either excusable neglect or a strong or virtually conclusive defense, and the trial court had done neither; hence it was an abuse of discretion to set aside the default. In response, the County argued that it was within the trial court's discretion to set aside the default and that there had been no abuse of that discretion. The County's brief admitted that

that the trial judge was referring to the admission by the County that this is *inexcusable* neglect on the part of the County. This is confirmed by a later comment by the trial court: "Then I have to look at was there neglect, and they've already stipulated to that." RP 39:24-25. The only "they" that the trial court could have referred to is the County.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> "I would have to agree with the defendants that a lot of these cases, in fact, most of these cases talk about defaults being generally disfavored in Washington, and it's very clear from reading all of the cases that the courts like cases to be tried and heard on the merits and not on a default. So that's pretty much in most of the cases that I read." RP 38:3-9. "The courts, in fact, all three divisions and the Supreme Court, want cases to be heard on their merits, and so in that, the Court has no choice but to vacate the default at this point . . .." RP 40:3-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> "The Court can't go in and actually weigh [the evidence] and say well, do I really think that's a great defense based on your countering what they said because I agree there's not been any discovery in this case, but have they shown it." RP 39:16-20.

it was unable to establish excusable neglect; in fact, it chided the Estate for continuing to focus on whether the neglect was excusable or not: "[I]t is understandable that Plaintiff would like to pigeonhole this into 'excusable neglect' which requires a 'higher standard,' but that is not what Spokane County ever argued." Respondent's Brief on Appeal, at 17.

In its opinion affirming the trial court, the Court of Appeals inexplicably cited what it claimed was a finding by the trial court: that the County's failure to answer or appear constituted excusable neglect: "[Judge Plese] characterized the matter as a case of 'an excusable neglect.'" Only by leaving out the first part of the sentence in the transcript<sup>11</sup> and ignoring the balance of the trial judge's comments (and the County's admissions and arguments) could the Court of Appeals conclude that the trial court had found excusable neglect.<sup>12</sup> But in the balance of its opinion the Court of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> "I would agree *the County has already said* this is an excusable neglect on the part of the County." RP 38:15-16. Even assuming the transcript is correct, the omission of the first part of the sentence makes clear it is a claim (or admission) on the part of the County, not a finding of the trial court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Although the Court of Appeals briefly claimed that the trial judge found excusable neglect, it did not base its decision on such a finding—nor could it, in light of the Rules of Appellate procedure, which limit the scope of appellate argument to those issues actually contested by the parties. RAP 12.1(a) ("Except as provided in section (b), the appellate court will decide a case only on the basis of issues set forth by the parties in their briefs.") To the extent that the County explicitly waived reliance on excusable neglect, it could not form the basis of the Court of Appeals decision, unless the Court invoked RAP 12.1(b), which allows the appellate court to

Appeals claimed for *White* and its progeny a rule in stark contrast to the procedure described in *White*: "The County did not intentionally ignore its obligation to respond. At its heart, that is what the *White* standard is about." 198 Wn.App. at 645, 394 P.3d at 1046. This characterization of *White* ignores its careful balance between the preference for a trial on the merits and the need to preserve respect for court rules.

Believing that the Court of Appeals had erred in both its characterization of the record and the applicable law, the Estate timely filed a motion for reconsideration. The motion was denied on May 30, 2017.<sup>13</sup>

### VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the Court of Appeals' description of the standard for setting aside a default judgment conflicts with *White v. Holm* and its progeny.

#### A. "[W]hat the *White* Standard is about."

The Court of Appeals described the *White* standard as being satisfied so long as the County did not "intentionally ignore its obligation to respond." 198 Wn.App. at 645, 394 P.3d at 1046. For nearly 50 years the courts of this state have been guided by the procedure prescribed in *White* for exercising a trial court's discretion to set aside a default judgment—and

introduce issues not argued by the parties, but only upon notice to the parties giving them an opportunity to respond.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Because the parties were not notified until July 12 of the entry of this order, the Court of Appeals subsequently recalled the mandate and the time to file this Petition for Review was extended.

it is decidedly different from simply determining whether the defendant intentionally ignored its obligation to respond.

In considering a motion to set aside a default judgment, a trial judge

is called upon to balance two competing considerations:

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