**SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON
CASE NO.: 94790-2**

Court of Appeals, III District Court NO. 34201- 8-III

FRANK DECARO, as personal representative for the ESTATE OF
JESSICA ALVARADO;

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

SPOKANE COUNTY,

Defendant-Respondent.

**RESPONDENT/DEFENDANT SPOKANE COUNTY'S
RESPONSE TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW**

EVANS, CRAVEN & LACKIE, P.S.
HEATHER C. YAKELY, #28848
818 W. Riverside, Suite 250
Spokane, WA 99201-0910
(509) 455-5200
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A trial court’s decision to set aside a judgment must be viewed for an abuse of discretion. The issue before this Court is simply whether Spokane County has met the standard to set aside the Default entered on November 6, 2015, and the Default Judgment entered on December 2, 2015.

A trial court abuses its discretion only when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons...In determining whether to grant a motion to vacate a default judgment, ‘the trial court must balance the requirement that each

party follow procedural rules with a party's interest in a trial on the merits.”

TMT Bear Creek Shopping Center v. Petco at 140 Wash.App 191, 199, 165 P.3d 1271 *citing, Showalter v. Wild Oats*, 124 Wn.App 506, 510 (2004); *Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc.*, 92 Wash.2d 576, 581, 599 P.2d 1289 (1979) The primary concern of review of a trial court's decision on a motion to vacate is to determine whether that decision was just and equitable. *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Center*, 140 Wash.App at 200, *citing, Calhoun v. Meritt*, 46 Wash.App. 616, 619, 731 P.2d 1094 (1986) Further, “what is just and proper must be determined by the facts of each case, not by a hard and fast rule...” *Id.* (internal citations omitted); *see also, White v. Holm*, 73 Wash.2d 348, 438 P.2d 581 (1960)(where a motion is not manifestly insufficient or groundless the court should exercise its authority liberally and equitably so that substantial rights be preserved and justice between the parties be fairly and judiciously done)

Rule 13.4(b)(1) and (2) read in pertinent part that “..a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals...” The Estate's sole issue is whether “in the absence of a ‘meritless’ claim, does the *White v. Holm* test allow

vacating default judgments when the neglect leading to the default judgment is not excusable.” (The Estate’s Opening Brief, p. 4) The Estate also conceded that the County presented a prima facie defense (factor #1), that it acted promptly to set aside the default judgment (factor #3), and that the Estate would not suffer a substantial hardship from setting aside the default (Factor #4). (Estate’s Opening Brief, p. 14)

This is essentially the same argument raised by the Estate at the Court of Appeals – that is that there are only two scenarios that a trial court may consider. (The Estate’s Opening Brief, p. 15) That language is simply nowhere in *White v. Holm*, or its progeny. As the trial court and the Court of Appeals noted, “contrary to the Estate’s argument, there is no requirement that one of the two primary *White* factors must be compelling.

In 1968, this Court decided *White v. Holm*. It provided four factors to consider when hearing a motion to vacate a default judgment:

- (1) that there is substantial evidence extant to support, at least prima face, a defense to the claim asserted by the opposing party;
- (2) that the moving party’s failure to timely appear in the action, and answer the opponent’s claim, was occasioned by mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable

neglect; (3) that the moving party acted with due diligence after notice of entry of the default judgment; and (4) that no substantial hardship will result to the opposing party.

White v. Holm, 73 Wash.2d, 352 438 P.2d at 584.

The Estate's argument is nonsensical as it focuses on individual words in an attempt to make its argument, rather than on the entire sentences and on the case in full itself. However, even with this emphasis on specific words the Estate's argument fails as the words relied upon are mis-used. Even considering the Estate's own emphasized wording in its brief, this is clear. (*See e.g.* Estate's Opening Memorandum, p. 15) There is nothing in the phrase, "will be scrutinized with greater care..." or "...[the] excusability of the defaulted defendants' reason for failing to initially and timely appear in the action deserve grave, if not dispositive, consideration," that requires the Estate's hard and fast rule of analysis (*Id.*) "With greater care," means just that – that the Court should use greater care, not that *White v. Holm* mandates a hard and fast either or analysis as the Estate argues. It does not mean that the Court has no discretion simply that it should weigh the factors "with greater care" or scrutiny if there is not a strong or virtually conclusive defense.

In fact, *White* specifically held that the analysis is fluid, as the County argued at both the trial court and at the court of appeals;

“The first two are the major elements to be demonstrated by the moving party, and they, coupled with the secondary factors, vary in dispositive significance as the circumstances of the particular case dictate...on the other hand, where the moving party is unable to show a strong or conclusive defense, but is able to properly demonstrate a defense that would ‘prima facie at least, carry a decisive issue to the find of the facts in a trial on the merits, the reasons for failure to appear will be scrutinized with greater care....”

White, 73 Wn.2d at 352-353; 438 P.2d at 584(emphasis added); *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Center*, 140 Wash. App. at 201, 165 P.3d 1271, citing *White*, 73 Wash.2d at 352, 438 P.2d at 548; *Little v. King*, 160 Wash.2d 696, 704, 161 P.3d 345, 350(2007)(en banc)(this is not a mechanical test; whether or not a default should be set aside is a matter of equity) The overriding concern is to ensure that justice is done. *Griggs v. Averbek Realty*, 92 Wash.2d 576, 582, 599 P.2d 1289 (1979); *Morin v.*

Burris, 160 Wash.2d 745, 754, 161 P.3d 956 (2007)(Washington has a strong preference for giving parties their day in court)

The cases following since *White v. Holm* have not deviated from this. This Court and the lower courts have been unwavering in this position; there is no “bright line” scenarios, or “either, or’s.” It is a spectrum, which “var[ies] in dispositive significant as the circumstances of the particular case dictate.” *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Center v. Petco*, 140 Wn.App 191, 201.

As recently as 2007, in *Little v. King*, this Court, en banc, reiterated that same rule, “where a party fails to provide evidence of a prima facie defense and fails to show that its failure to appear was occasioned by mistake...there is no equitable basis for vacation of a judgment.” *Little v. King*, 160 Wn.2d 696, 706, 161 P.3d 345, 351 (2007)(en banc) While factually distinguishable from the facts in this case because the Court did not find a prima facie defense and that there was no mistake because the defendant decided not to respond. Neither of which exist here, the principles from *White v. Holm* remained unchanged. *Little* is also instructive in that it emphasized that there was no mistake because the Insurance Company intentionally did not respond. Again, that was the case here as evidenced by Mr. Bartel’s Affidavit.

The facts in *White* also establish that a moving party at a minimum must establish a very minimal, prima facie defense; "...[that] could, when fully explored at trial on the merits... present a sufficient, although minimal, prima facie defense for purposes of their motion to vacate the judgment." *Holm*, 73 Wn.2d 353, 438 P.2d at 585.

Here, the facts are much stronger than simply establishing a minimal prima facie defense. The actual standard is "a trial court may grant vacation of a default judgment when (1) the movant is able to demonstrate that it has a strong **or** virtually conclusive defense to the claim asserted against it scant time will be spent.... On the other hand where a party is unable to show a strong or conclusive defense, but is able to properly demonstrate a defense that would, prima facie at least...the reason will be scrutinized with greater care as will the seasonability of his application and the element of potential hardship..." *White*, 73 Wash.2d at 352-353, 438 P.2 at 584. This Court clearly intended in that holding to consider all four elements as was properly done by the trial court and the court of appeals.

This standard was developed for the purpose of serving principles of equity. *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Center*, 140 Wash. App. At 204-204, citing, *Johnson v. Cash Store*, 116 Wn.App 833, 841 (2003)(in determining whether a default judgment should be vacated, the court

applies equitable principles to ensure that substantial rights are preserved and justice is done.”)(internal citations omitted) Federal Courts also permit an independent action in equity to vacate a default judgment when it can show that the judgment is “manifestly unconscionable.” *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Center*, 140 Wn.App 191, fn.7, citing *Pickford v. Talbott*, 225 U.S. 651, 657-58, 32 S.Ct. 687, 56 L.Ed. 1240 (1912) (emphasis added)

“Strong,” is defined in plain English as: “not mild, or weak.” Webster’s Ninth Collegiate Dictionary (1983) “Or” is conjunctive and defined by Black’s law dictionary as: “[a] disjunctive particle used to express an alternative or to give a choice of one among two or more things.” (Black’s Law Dictionary, abridged 6th Ed., 1991) Thus, Spokane County need only show that it has a strong defense, not that it is virtually conclusive that it would ultimately prevail. This “strong” defense definition is supported by the courts’ holdings that, when deciding whether to set aside a default a court, need not determine the issues of fact, but only establish that if proven at the time of trial could succeed. (*TMT Bear Creek Shopping Center Supra*) (emphasis added)

Here, as is clearly established in the supporting affidavits and evidence provided by Spokane County there is very clearly a strong defense. The County would argue that it is virtually conclusive that there

will be a defense verdict if this proceeds to trial based upon the evidence provided and the law as to inmate medical care. Suffice it to say, however, the courts permit a minimal prima facie case or a “strong” or “virtually conclusive” defense. (emphasis added)

Regardless, the County clearly established - and as recognized by the lower courts – at a minimum, a prima facie case. Prima Facie Evidence is defined as:

“evidence good and sufficient on its face. Evidence which, if unexplained or uncontradicted, is sufficient to sustain a judgment in favor of the issue which it supports.”

(Black’s Law Dictionary, abridged 6th Ed. (1991))

Clearly the evidence presented by Spokane County in its Opening Memorandum meet the definition of prima facie. Such is the nature of “prima facie,” it is a lesser threshold. Regarding the Prima Facie Case the Courts have held, “the trial court must take the evidence, and the reasonable inferences therefrom, in the light most favorable to the movant.” *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Center*, 140 Wn.App. at 202, *Pfaff v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co.*, 103 Wn.App 829, 835 (2000)

The trial court need only determine whether the defendant is able to demonstrate any set of circumstances that would, if believed, entitle the defendant to relief. *Ha v. Signal Elec., Inc.*, 182 Wn.App 426, 449 (2014), citing *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Ctr*, 140 Wn.App at 203.

In *Ha*, defendant asserted the defense that a third party was the sole cause of Ha's injuries. In support of that defense, defendant submitted the criminal information related to the third parties criminal charge of vehicular assault. *Ha*, 182 Wn.App at 449-450. The court found that this information was sufficient holding "[defendant] needs to set forth only a prima facie defense. [Defendant] has done so based on the facts submitted." *Id.*

The *Ha* Court then moved to its next analysis relying on *TMT Bear Creek Shopping Center* and *White* and noted the rule that "where a party is unable to show a strong or conclusive defense, but is able to properly demonstrate a defense that would, prima facie at least, carry a decisive issue to the finder of the facts in a trial on the merit, the reasons for his failure to timely appear in the action before the default will be scrutinized with greater care...." *Ha*, 182 Wash.App at 450(internal citations omitted)

Thus, the second element for this Court to consider is why there was a default to begin with.

A. CR 60(b) Recognizes A Mistake As A Ground For Setting Aside A Default.

Lastly, the Estate's argues that the court of appeals opinion stands in glaring contrast to *White* that a "mistake" is not sufficient on only a prima facie defense. The Estate again too narrowly reads CR 60. Unfortunately, there are no cases which deal with CR 60(b) and the language "mistake" and "inadvertence," only "excusable neglect."¹

A mistake is defined by the English language as: "a wrong action or statement proceeding from faulty judgment, inadequate knowledge or inattention." (Websters Ninth New Collegiate Dict., 1983)(emphasis added)².

CR 60(b) clearly states "mistakes; inadvertence; Excusable neglect;..." (emphasis added) Semi-colons serve the purpose of setting out independent clauses of a compound sentence, thus each word is an independent clause. (Websters) There is nothing nefarious about this mistake, it was not done for the purpose of harming anyone, it was not

¹ If one goes to the notes of decision for Rule 60 on Westlaw and goes to "mistake-generally," it refers the user to "see mistake, generally, mistake inadvertence, surprise and excusable neglect. That subsection provides no applicable case law. In fact, only one case has, which involves a divorce and judgment.

² Mr. Bartel at no time has ever stated anything other than that it was his mistake. This is not an issue of being directed to accept fault and there were never attempts to deflect blame it was not willful or intentional (as found in *Little v. King*).

wilful, or intentional. It was an action clearly defined by Webster's dictionary and was a word specifically included in the Court Rule when it was drafted. It is not only excusable neglect and "mistake" does not have to equate to "excusable neglect" as the Estate argues.

The Estate's reading is again based upon a narrow and inflexible reading of *White v. Holm*. It does not require this rigidity. *White* requires a court to use a fluid analysis; "The first two are the major elements to be demonstrated by the moving party, and they, coupled with the secondary factors, vary in dispositive significance as the circumstances of the particular case dictate." *White*, 73 Wn.2d at 352, 438 P.2d at 584.

Thus, a mistake is a wholly separate consideration than "excusable neglect." As was properly considered by the trial court using its discretion and as was properly found by Court of Appeals.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly noted that there is no rigid requirement of the analysis, or specifically of a requirement for "showing a higher quality evidence on the second prong."

For the reasons stated above the County respectfully requests that this Court deny the Estate's Petition for Review as the Court of Appeals did not err in upholding the trial court's decision.